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Woodward Houses are located at 701-703 West Street in a mid- to late-nineteenth- 
century neighborhood of mostly brick row houses in Wilmington, Delaware,

The S^-story house at 701 is built entirely of quarried granite. A gable roof with two 
gable-roofed dormers and a box cornice with bed molding surmounts this structure with 
an L-shaped, side-hall plan. Double-hung windows, 9-over-9 on the first floor and 
6-over-6 on the second and third floor, make up the 3-bay facade. A short staircase 
with a decorative wrought iron balustrade leads up to the front entrance, which is 
recessed by raised paneling and enframed by a simple classical frontispiece, probably 
added about 1S40. A transom rests above the front door which has 6-raised panels. 
The reverse side of this door is beaded batten held in place by HL hinges.

The main hallway contains all of its original details including baseboard, chair 
rail, and raised 6-paneled doors. Also located in this hallway is a Federally-styled, 
open-string staircase with a paneled base, turned balusters, ramped hand rail, and 
an attenuated turned newel. The chair rail, which continues from the hallway up the 
staircase, is also ramped and "supported" by engaged newels.

A raised-paneled door leads from the hallway to the parlor. The architectural detail 
in this room dates from the Federal Period (c. 1780-1320). Wide architraves encase 
the windows and door. A paneled wainscoting with reeded molding beneath the chair 
rail surrounds the room. The mantel, situated on the chimney breast of the west wall, 
came from a late-eighteenth-century house on Front and Market Streets in Wilmington.

The rear parlor, or dining room, maintains its Georgian character. Although the 
period cabinet doors and the fireplace surround were added in tine twentieth century, 
most of the paneled wall, the chair rail, baseboards, and the French doors are 
original.

The kitchen, located at the end of the hallway, contains the original large walk-in 
fireplace with a Dutch oven door and crane hooks still intact. A horizontal in­ 
dention in the brickwork above was probably an area used for powder horn drying. 
Except for the exposed hand-hewn beams and the random-width, pinewood floors, the 
architectural detail in this room is not original. A small room with an exit to 
the back yard is located behind the kitchen.

The second floor of the house contains two bedrooms, a sitting room, and a modern 
bathroom. Except for the bathroom, these areas retain their eighteenth-century 
qualities. The front bedroom, the largest room in the house, has a fireplace with 
a Georgian architrave and a simple early-nineteenth-century mantel. The central 
bedroom also contains a fireplace with a similar architrave set in a raised-paneled 
wall with two closets. The authentic chair rail and baseboard molding surrounds 
this room.

There are two rooms in both the third floor and attic. The architectural components 
in these rooms consist of simple baseboards, architraves, and raised 6-paneled doors.
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Although 701 and 703 West Street appear to be identical, 703 is 3 feet shorter in 
both length and width than 701. The main section of the house at 703 is built of 
stone, faced with pebble-dash stucco; the rear ell is built of brick. A gable roof 
with one gable-roofed dormer and a box cornice with bed molding meets the front but 
not the rear roofline of the gable of 701. The facade of 703 is 3-bays wide, con­ 
sisting of double-hung, 6-over-6 windows. The staircase, balustrade, and front 
entrance to 703 are without difference to those at 701, except that the reverse side 
of the front door is not beaded-batten.

The interior of the house at 703 was altered in the mid-nineteenth century and then 
in the 1930's to accommodate apartment dwellings. The only surviving eighteenth- 
century architectural details in the main hallway are the ramped chair rail and the 
paneled base of the staircase, which was remodeled about 1930.

The entrance to the first floor apartment is located at the end of the hallway? it 
leads directly into the dining room just past the entrance to the parlor on the right. 
T*ie former entrance to the large parlor was located in the hallway to the right of 
the main entrance. Now filled with modern paneling, the entrance was defined by 
elliptically-arched simple wooden molding.

The parlor, which was probably enlarged in the mid-eighteenth century, contains a 
classically-styled wooden mantel decorated around the fireplace with blue and white 
tiles, believed to be English Minton tiles, which date from about 1860-70. The 
baseboards, window and door architraves consist of simple wooden molding.

One wall of the dining room contains a wooden, mid-nineteenth-century mantelpiece 
and wall cabinet. Some eighteenth-century window architraves remain in this room. 
The remainder of the molding in this room dates from the nineteenth and twentieth 
centuries.

A modern kitchen, bathroom, and two small rooms are located beyond the dining room.

The second floor contains two apartments, one of which appears to have an eighteenth- 
century fireplace and surround. The doors and moldings in these areas date from 
the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.

Uie third and fourth floors are another apartment, 
century woodwork remains in these sections.

Most of the original eighteenth-

The attached Woodward Houses stand alone on the odd side of the 700 block of West 
Street with a parking lot to the north and a low-story laundry center to the south.
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 the Woodward Houses are significant as the only known, extant, eighteenth-century 
stone houses of a side-hall plan in the City of Wilmington, Delaware. They are 
excellent examples of the Georgian style of architecture which was prominent in 
Wilmington during this period.

According to the Delaware historian, Jeannette Eckman, 701 and 703 West Street were 
constructed in 1745 and 1760 respectively. A map drawn by a French military car­ 
tographer in 1781 , and featured in The American Campaign of Rochambeau's Arm£, 
1780-83, pictures what appears to be these houses with a "corderie", or ropemaking 
operation, behind them. Ihe Federal Period interior architectural detail indicates 
that part of the interior of 701 was probably altered between the years 1780-1820.

Originally located on 65 acres of ground, known as South Shallcross Marsh, the 
Woodward Houses fronted West Street which was laid in the year 1739-40. Joseph 
Woodward, a Quaker ropemaker from West Chester, Pennsylvania, purchased the property 
around 1745. He probably built the houses when he established his roperaaking 
business on the same grounds. In 1769, when he sold the property to his son, 
Mordecai, the deed mentions a ropewalk which was used in the production of sailing 
ship rigging. As ropemakers, the Woodward family played an important role in 
Wilmington's shipbuilding industry of the eighteenth century.

When Mordecai Woodward died in 1795, John Dauphin, a French immigrant, purchased 
the property consisting of Bh acres of land, a stone dwelling, a covered ropewalk, 
and a frame for the preservation of hemp. Around the turn of the century, James 
Ash ton Bayard took ownership. He was a member of the prominent Bayard family of 
Delaware, Maryland, and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. His father, Joseph H, Bayard, 
the elder, was one of the negotiators for the settlement of the War of 1812. He, 
himself, was an eminent Delaware attorney who served in Congress as Senator for 
nearly 20 years. In 1885 he, and his wife Ann Frances, sold the property to another 
notable Wilmington family - the Edward Tatnall family. The Tatnall family was 
important in the business community of Wilmington and the Village of Brandywine.

There is a legend associated with the Woodward Houses. It is written that the 
house at 703 contains a hearthstone which was a section of the platform where 
Thomas Jefferson stood to read the Declaration of Independence to the people of 
Philadelphia.
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Most of Wilmington's eighteenth-century houses were destroyed during the develop­ 
ment of Wilmington in the mid-nineteenth-century development. Because of their 
location, the Woodward houses were not incorporated into the city proper until 
about the same time, This might explain how they survived destruction. Almost 
all of the remaining structures of the eighteenth century were razed by the Urban 
Renewal Program of 1950-70. therefore, the Woodward Houses have become rare 
examples of Georgian architecture in Wilraington, Delaware.
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